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An Archaeclogical Evaluation and at Gog Brook Farm, Hampten Read,
Warwick, Warwickshire,

By Laurence Jones

INTRODUCTION

‘The following report describes the results of an archacological desk-top assessment
and fieldwork, recording and reporting of a series of {rial trenches excavated at Gog
Brook Farm, Hampton Road, Warwick, Warwickshire (Fig. 1: NGR SP 2680
6370). The ficldwork was undertaken by Birmingham University Field Archacology
Unit in January 1996. The work was commissioned by Bryant Homes West
Midiands Limited and conforms to a brief supplied by Warwickshire Museum
(Warwick Museum 1995b) and a revised evaluation proposal prepared by BUFAU
(BUFAU 1995).

OBJECTIVE

The objective of the archaeological work was 10 establish presence/absence,
character, extent, state of preservation and date of any archaeological deposits
within the study area. These objectives were achicved through a combination of
desk-top assessment and trial excavation.

METHOD
Stage 1 - Desk-top Assessment and Site Visit

An examination of primary and secondary documentary sources, cartographic
sources and aerial photographic evidence was undertaken prior to the fieldwork.
The majority of the documentation consulted was held by the County Sites and
Monuments Record and the County Records Office. An on-site inspectior of the
area of the proposed development was carried out to identify and record any
archaeplogically significant surface features, prior to the commencement of trial
trenching. Any available exposures such as recently cut field ditches and geological
test pits were to be examined. This information was to be used to assist in the
selection of the locations of the trial trenches (Stage 2).

Stage 2 - Trial Trenching

The trial excavation covered 1.5% of the study area. This was achieved by 28
trenches, each 50m x 2m (Fig. 2, Trenches 1-28).

The topsoil/ploughsoil horizon within each trench was removed by machine using a
toothless ditching bucket. Any possible underlying archaeological deposits or
features that were identified were cleaned and a sufficient sample manually
excavated in order to establish their extent, condition, nature, character, quality and
(if possible) date.

The stratigraphy of all trial trenches was recorded even where no archaeological
deposits were identified.  Archaeological recording was undertaken using a
continuous numbered context systemm and BUFAU pro-forma record cards. All
archaeological features and deposits were photographed and a full drawn record at
an appropriate scale was maintained. The locations of the trial trenches were
surveyed using a Total Station Theodolite.
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RESULTS
Stage 1 - Desk-top Assessment and Site Visit
The Site

The site lies approximately 2km south-west of Warwick town centre and 1km west
of the River Avon. The drifl geology of the site is Mercia Mudstone overlying
second terrace river gravels (OS 1:10,000, Drift Geology Map, Rust Enviromental
Geotechnical Reports 1993z and 1995b). The site occupics 3,300 squarc metres with
the A46(T) Warwick-by-pass forming the western boundary. The Gog Brook, which
flows into the Avon, is situated at the north-east corner of the site. The western part
of the site is on a rise, at 56m AQOD, which slopes down to the east.

Archaeological background

Excavation and aerial photography over recent years have demonstrated the high
potential of river gravels in the western midlands as a location for settlement during
the prehistoric and early historic periods (Cunliffe 1991, Fulford and Nichols
1992)). Within Zkm of the site are 12 cropmark sifes recognised by acrial
photography.

To the south-west (Fig. 1) are two enclosures (WA 967) and a possible trackway
(WA 5159). Also to the south is a cropmark complex (WA 966) including an
enclosure, a possible trackway and other linear features. Further to the cast another
cropmark complex (WA 4685) includes a possible trackway, other linear features
and a ring ditch. To the north-east of this complex is a "D" shaped enclosure (WA
5515), possibly Iron Age on morphological grounds, an elongated enclosure (WA
1921}, possibly a Neolithic cursus, on morphological grounds, and arother possible
enclosure (WA 6426} and linear cropmarks (WA 6425). Further east is a possible
trackway (WA 5516). To the west of these cropmarks is a linear cropmark (WA
5517) and to the north is a possible enclosure cropmark (WA 6424).

Also to the south of the site, 0.3km from the Avon, a large scatter of worked flint
tools (WA 6377) was identified in 1991, Flints recovered from this scatter are still
awatting detailed study, but may date to the Neolithic or Bronze Ages.

To the north of the study arca, a series of cropmarked enclosure features (WA
2190) may, on morphological grourds, be part of Romano-British villa complex. To
the east of the site a ist-century Roman coin (WA 4069) and a 1st-century Romano-
British Birdlip brooch and four 2nd-3rd-century coins (WA 7124) have been
recovered.

The site of an Anglo-Saxon cemetery (WA 1982) lies 0.5 km to the east of the
study area, east of the Stratford Road. It was discovered in 1875 by workmen
digging for gravel {(Burgess 1876). Graves containing human skeletons were
excavated in an area 18m x 15m. Finds recovered included Angle-Saxon pottery,
weapons, a silver armlet, brooches, amber beads and bronze "buckets”. The site
was said 10 lie in a field 1 mile from Warwick near Longbridge in an angle of
Warwick Castle Park, where the Fisher Brook forms the boundary on its way to the
Avon. However, thc possible site of the cemetery was investigated before
development in the 1960's and no evidence of a burials were found (Taylor 1968).

The site of medieval Longbridge Manor lies 0.75m to the south-east of the study
area (WA 1941) and the site of the Medieval Church of St. Lawrence (WA 1956)
lies to the east of the study area. Within 0.5 km of the study area three Medieval
coins (WA 4556/7137), a wool bale seal of 1571 (WA 4518) and a coin of
Elizabeth 1 (WA 5582) have been found. At Warwick racecourse, to the north,
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earthworks near ridge and furrow (WA 1980) could be associated with possible
medieval settlement. Medieval pottery has been recovered in the racecourse area
(WA 5524).

A recent archaeological evaluation (Warwick Museumn 1995a) immediatcly to the
north of the study area was not able to identify any features or deposits of
archaeological significance apart from remains of medieval and post-medieval ridge
and furrow. Three residual prehistoric worked flints were recovered from the
ploughsoil.

Cartographic Evidence

The earliest relevant map evidence examined was a tithe map dated 1841. The land
was owned by Lord Dormer and divided into ficlds of meadow in the north of the
study area and arable to the south with Gog Brook Farm appearing to correspond
with the building depicted on this and later maps. The Gog Brook follows a
different course from that of the present day, flowing across the eastern part of the
site and forming the parish boundary between the parish of Budbrooke to the west
and St.Mary’s to the cast. Many of the field names in the south of the study arca
such as Hovel Foul Moor, Foul Moor Field, Hill Foul Moor and Little Foul Moor
suggest these fields were also being used for sewage disposal, a fact suggested by
later map evidence. The O.S 1886 1st edition 25" to 1 mile and the O.S 1887 6" to
1 mile maps show the farm as Sewage Farm and much of the study aréa appears to
be divided into rectangular plots suggestive of sewage beds. The same pattern of
rectangular scwage beds can be seen on the 0.5 1905 6" to 1 mile map (Fig. 3}.

Aerial Photographic Evidence

Acrial photographs taken by the RAF in 1947 (1:10560 26/SE) show no cvidence
for any archaeological features.

Site Visit

Inspection of the site showed that the area available tor trial trenching was slightly
smaller (c.28,000 square metres) than stated in the revised evaluation proposal
{(BUFAU 1995). This was due to sand and gravel cxtraction and associated
disturbance in the north-east corner of the site.

All of the sitc was under pasture, apart from the area occupied by the derchict
buildings of Gog Brook Iarm. There was no visible evidence of upstanding
archaeological features apart from former field boundaries which can be seen
depicted on recent 1:2500 Ordnance Survey maps.

Summary and Conclusion

Substantial concentrations of cropmarks probably dating to the prehistoric and early
historic periods on the river gravels to the south indicate the presence of settlement
features. It was thought that there was a strong possibility that similar features may
have lain within the study arca. Cropmarks to the north of the study area, possibly
associated with a Roman villa complex, may imply the possible presence of
associated estate features within the study area.



The close proximity of the site of an Anglo-Saxon cemetery also raised the
possibility of associated settlement within the development area. The presence of
ncarby medieval earthworks and finds suggested that there may have been some
potential for evidence of medieval features iIn the study area. However examination
of cartographic and aerial photographic evidence failed to produce any further
evidence for archaeological features or deposits and it seems possible that some
disturbance migh{ have been caused by the later sewage farm.

Stage 2 - Trial Trenching

For descriptive purposes the study arca was divided into 3 areas (Fig. 2, Areas A -
C).

Arca A (Trenches -8 and 15-16)

The natural subsoil in this area was a yellowish-brown to brown slightly silty sandy
clay with some bands of more compact reddish-brown slightly sandy clay to the
south., The overlying brown sandy clay topsoil was 0.20-0.30m dcep. A sondage
dug at the east end of Trench 4 exposed brown sand and gravel at 1.20m below the
present ground surface. Overlying the sand and gravel was a silty and sandy clay
with bands of sand, 0.30m deep. This was overlain by the brown slightly silty sandy
clay, 0.60m deep, encountered below the topsoil in most trenches.

Most features excavated in these trenches proved to be either modern land drains or
other features whose fills contained sherds of modern pottery. In Trench 4, a linear
cut (Fig.4, F9) was aligned north east-south west, 0.55m wide and 0.15m deep,
with a steep south-east side, a more gently sloping north-west side and a tlat base. It
was filled with greyish-brown silty clay (4002) and a few small pebbles. :

Area B {Trenches 9-14 and 17-20)

The natural subsoil in this area consisted of a brown slightly silty sandy clay with
bands of compact reddish-brown clay to the north-west. The overlying brown silty
clay topsoil was up to 0.30m deep. Below the topsoil in Trenches 9, 13, 18 and the
eastern part of Trench 10 was a compact grey clay, 0.45m deep.

Modern land drains were observed in some of the trenches. Other features that were
sample excavated were filled with contexts containing sherds of modern pottery. In
Trench 10 was & 12m wide, north-south aligned, linear band of black clinker,
gravel and clay. In Trench Il were four east-west aligned linear negative features
spaced 8m apart. They varied in width from 1-4m wide and were 0.05-0.20m deep.
The features were filled with brown sandy clays flecked with charcoal and contained
sherds of [8th-20th century pottery, clay pipe stem fragments and ceramic tile. In
Trench 14 was a linear ditch (Fig., 4, F12) orientated north east-south west, 1.30m
wide and 0.45m deep, with steeply sloping sides and a slightly rounded base. It was
filled with a clayey sandy silt (14002}, small pebbles, flecks of charcoal and sherds
of post-medieval pottery.

Area C (Trenches 21-28)

The natural subsoil here was a brown sandy clay in the south and a compact reddish
brown clay to the north. The topsoil was a dark brown silty clay, 0.27-0.33m deep.
Modern land drains and features with modern pottery in their fills were observed in
some of the trenches. In Trench 21 there was a great deal of modern disturbance
including two modern features aligned north-south, one of which was 4m wide. In
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Trenches 25-7 linear negative features (Fig. 4, F31-42), aligned north-south, were
regularly spaced 3-4m apart. They had gently sloping sides and a flat base, were 6-
7m wide and 0.15-20m deep, and were filled with brown silty clays (25003-9,
26002-5 and 27002-3) containing fragments of clay pipe stem and sherds of post-
medieval and modern pottery. The fill of F34 (Fig. 4, 25005) also contained a sherd
of quartz tempercd medieval cooking pot. Three small lincar features (Fig. 4, F28-
30} proved (o be animal burrows.

DISCUSSION

Nonc of the featurcs in any of the trial trenches were considered archaeologically
significant. The shallow regularly spaced features in Trenches 11, 25, 26 and 27
were undoubtedly remains of furrows, belonging to medieval and post-medieval
ridge and furrow strip field cultivation. Two possible ditches (Trench 4, F9 and
Trench 14, FF12) were either undated or contained post-medieval pottery. The wide
linear featurc in Trench 10 may correspond to the former course of the Gog Brook
as depicted on the 1905 25" to 1 mile O.S map (Fig. 3). All the other features
sampled proved to be either modern drainage features, modern features related to
the former sewage farm or were of natural origin.
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